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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

 

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has appellate jurisdiction over this case 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (2012). Plaintiffs have filed a timely Notice of Appeal following the 

Order of the District Court dated May 15, 2019 in Civ. 66-2017. This Notice of Appeal was granted 

by the Twelfth Circuit, ordering the following issues be briefed. 

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 

1.        Does Greenlawn have the right as a riparian landowner to continue water withdrawals    

           for municipal purposes during a drought without any water conservation measures? 

 

2.  Is the operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works during drought conditions to provide flow 

to Greenlawn a discretionary action subject to the consultation requirement within § 7 of 

the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1536?  

 

3.  Does Greenlawn’s withdrawal of nearly all of the drought-reduced flow from the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works constitute a “take” of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel in violation 

of § 9 of the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1538? 

 

4.  Must the District Court balance the equities before enjoining a beneficial municipal 

activity, when the activity will cause the extirpation of an entire population of an 

endangered species? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A.  Statement of Relevant Facts 

 This litigation arises out of a dispute over water appropriation between the City of 

Greenlawn (“Greenlawn”) and the plaintiff, New Union Oystercatchers, Inc. (“NUO”). 

Greenlawn, New Union lies on the banks of the Green River Bypass Reach (“Bypass Reach”). R. 

at 5. The Bypass Reach was created when the United States Army Corps of Engineers built the 

Green River Diversion Dam and the Howard Runnet Dam in 1947. Id. Greenlawn owns all of the 

riverfront located within city limits, including the riverbed, and has maintained municipal water 

intakes in the Bypass Reach since its founding. Id.  
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 Howard Runnet Dam Works was authorized by Congress in the River and Harbor Act of 

1945 to be used for flood control, hydroelectric power, and recreation purposes. R. at 6 In 1958, 

fish and wildlife purposes were added as authorized purposes of the dam. Id. The dam was 

designed to cut the natural flow to the Bypass Reach and Greenlawn’s water supply. Id. For this 

reason the Army Corps of Engineers (“ACOE”) entered into an agreement with Greenlawn to 

maintain flows in the Bypass Reach, thus allowing the city to continue water withdrawals. Id.  

 Presently, Greenlawn consists of largely single-family homes whose water is supplied by 

Greenlawn Water Agency for both residential and industrial purposes. R. at 5. Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals average 6 million gallons per day (“MGD”) annually, but peak at 20 MGD during the 

summer months. Id. Due to the Greenlawn Water Agency’s management of the water, very little 

(less than 5 percent) of the water withdrawn by Greenlawn returns to the Green River system. R. 

at 6.  

1. Water Control Manual Agreement 

 ACOE’s operation of the dams is governed by a Water Control Manual (“WCM”), last 

revised in 1968. R. at 6. The WCM establishes parameters for allowing releases of water from the 

dams and provides different target lake elevations at different times of year based on historical 

flows and demand. R. at 6. If target lake elevations are maintained, excess natural inflow is released 

downstream through the Bypass Reach, the hydroelectric generation turbine, and the Howard 

Runnet Dam. Id. If natural inflow rates would cause flood conditions downstream of the Howard 

Runnet Dam, releases are capped, and the lake is allowed to rise. Id. When lake levels drop below 

the seasonal target levels, the WCM contains provisions that curtail downstream releases to 

Greenlawn. R. at 7. In addition to those provisions, the WCM states, “At all times the Howard 

Runnet Dam Works shall be operated in a manner that complies with any water supply agreements 
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entered into by the United States ACOE, and with the riparian rights of property owners established 

under New Union law.” Id.  

 When the WCM was adopted there were few water consuming operations in the watershed 

upstream of the Howard Runnet Lake. Id. However, in 2019, there are now several large 

agricultural operations in the Green River valley that draw far more water than when the WCM 

agreement was made. R. at 8. For years this system ran smoothly, as precipitation levels were 

adequate to keep the lake above drought-level conditions. Id. Sadly, in the 21st century, drought 

conditions have become more and more frequent due to below-average precipitation and above-

average temperatures. Id. Due to the drought conditions the ACOE has restricted the flow into the 

Bypass Reach to 7 Cubic Feet per Second (“CFS”). Id. Greenlawn has protested these restrictions 

and forced the ACOE to increase the water release into the Bypass Reach to 30 CFS, contrary to 

the provisions in the WCM. Id. This has resulted in extreme drought conditions in the watershed 

and is threatening to wipe out a species of mussel listed as endangered under the Endangered 

Species Act.  R. at 9.  

2. Threat to the Oval Pigtoe Mussel and the NUO 

 The reduced river water level exposed several beds of oval pigtoe mussels, a federally 

listed endangered species, downstream from the confluence of the Bypass Reach and Howard 

Runnet Dam Works. R. at 9. The mussels require a healthy population of host fish species which 

the larval mussels attach to during the maturation process. Id. The extreme low water levels prevent 

the migration of the necessary host fish. Id. The stagnant water causes increased siltation, 

smothering mussel populations and destroying critical habitat. Id. Experts uncontradicted 

testimony shows these conditions resulted in the death of twenty-five percent of the mussel 

population and will result in the death of the species if continued. Id. The ACOE has not consulted 
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the Fish and Wildlife Service on this issue and Greenlawn does not have an incidental take permit 

authorizing the take of oval pigtoe mussels incidental to operating municipal water intake. Id.  

 NUO is a not-for-profit membership association representing the interests of oyster 

fisherman. R. at 10. The members of the association have suffered reduced catches and declining 

incomes because of the reduced oyster population. Id. Several members have been forced to 

abandon their livelihoods. Id. Adding insult to injury, some members are retail customers of the 

New Union Regional Electric Cooperative and will be forced to pay fuel surcharges during times 

the dam hydroelectric plant cannot operate as a peaking facility. Id. The actions of Greenlawn are 

causing serious economic harm to NUO. Id. Because of this, NUO served a Notice of Intent to sue 

the ACOE and Greenlawn under the Endangered Species Act, alleging violations based on flow 

reductions in the Green River due to the ACOE’s actions. Since filing suit precipitation has reduced 

the emergency drought conditions, however all parties agree that based on recent trends drought 

warning conditions are likely to occur again in the near future and this case is not moot.  

B.  Procedural History 

 NUO served a Notice of Intent to sue the ACOE and Greenlawn under the Endangered 

Species Act, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), on May 17, 2017. R. at 10. After waiting the requisite sixty 

days, NUO filed the original action in the District Court of New Union on July 17, 2017. Id. 

In its Opinion and Order issued on May 15, 2019, the District Court of New Union: granted 

the ACOE’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the First Claim for Relief; denied 

Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment dismissing the Second Claim for Relief and the 

ACOE’s Cross Claim, granted Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment on its cross-claim 

declaring its rights as a riparian land owner; granted summary judgment dismiss the Third Claim 

for Relief in the complaint and granted NUO’s motion for summary judgment declaring Greenlawn 
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to be in violation of §9 of the Endangered Species Act. R. at 18. Finally, the District Court enjoined 

Greenlawn from causing water withdrawals that result in the flow of the Green River downstream 

of the confluence of the Howard Runnet Dam tailrace with the Bypass Reach to drop below 25 

cubic feet per second average over twenty-four hours. Id. Following the issuance of the Opinion 

and Order by the District Court, Greenlawn and NUO both filed timely Notices of Appeal. Id.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Because the District Court’s dismissals were based on questions of law the standard of 

review in this Court de novo. The de novo standard applies when issues of law predominate in the 

district court’s decision. U.S. v. Mateo-Mendez, 215 F.3d 1039, 1042 (9th Cir. 2000). Federal 

statutory interpretation, as well as Constitutional interpretation, are both questions of law to be 

reviewed under the de novo standard. Schleining v. Thomas, 642 F.3d 1242, 1246 (9th Cir. 2011); 

Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 558 (1988).  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 On Issue One, the trial court erred by granting Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment. 

Greenlawn has been withdrawing an unreasonable amount of water from the Bypass Reach during 

a time of unusually high temperatures and low water levels. They have also not returned a 

reasonable amount of water to the source from which they took it, only returning less than 5% of 

what they took. Their water withdrawals have resulted in the destruction of a valuable public use 

of the water, creating a public nuisance after destroying the habitat for oval pigtoe mussels and 

oysters, diminishing each population, which has resulted in the public’s inability to fish there and 

make enough money to pay the mortgage on their boats. For these reasons, Greenlawn’s 

withdrawals should be enjoined. 
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 On Issue Two, NUO asks the court to reverse the district court’s dismissal of NUO’s ESA 

claims against ACOE because their operation of Howard Runnet Dam Works during drought 

conditions is a discretionary action that requires a § 7 consultation. Discretionary action does not 

contain specific triggering events that would require the agency to act in a specified manner. 

Therefore, § 7(a)(2) consultation requirements apply to ACOE’s releases from the Howard Runnet 

Dam. 

Additionally, even if the court does not find ACOE’s control of the dam’s water levels to 

be discretionary action, ACOE’s water agreements negotiations with Greenlawn are discretionary 

actions subject to § 7 consultation requirements because there is agency discretion during the water 

agreement negotiation process.   

On Issue Three, the Court should affirm the District Court’s ruling that Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals from the drought-reduced flow violate § 9 of the ESA. Greenlawn violated § 9 of the 

ESA when its water withdrawals harmed the endangered oval pigtoe mussel by causing the 

modification and degradation of the oval pigtoe mussel ‘shabitat to the point where the species can 

no longer breed or survive due to the drastic decrease in water level, and that harm was proximately 

caused by Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals. 

On Issue Four, the court did not err when it issued an injunction enjoining Greenlawn  

from making water withdrawals that have the effect of reducing downstream flows below the rate 

necessary for mussel survival. R. at 18.  As such, NUO asks this court to affirm the district court’s 

issuance of an injunction against water withdrawals that cause the flow of the Green River 

downstream of the Howard Runnet Dam to drop below 25 cubic feet per second averaged over 

twenty-four hours. The court does not need to balance the equities in cases relating to injunctions 

for ESA violations because Congress has spoken directly to the purpose of the Act, to protect 
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endangered species at all costs. As such, it is not for the courts to weigh the value of a project 

against the value of saving an endangered species, and the courts should not balance the equities 

in doing so.  

ARGUMENT 

I. (A) NUO HAS STANDING FOR AN ACTION AGAINST GREENLAWN FOR ITS 

MUNICIPAL WATER WITHDRAWALS UNDER THE PUBLIC TRUST 

DOCTRINE 

 

 NUO asks this Court to reverse the district court’s grant of summary judgment to 

Greenlawn because NUO has standing under the Public Trust doctrine for an action enjoining 

Greenlawn’s riparian water use. This Court must allow NUO’s First Claim for Relief to be heard.  

 Any member of the general public has standing to raise a claim of harm to the public trust. 

Nat’l Audubon Soc’y v. Superior Court, 33 Cal. 3d 419, 431 n.11 (1983) (affirming the holding 

that recreational and ecological rights are protected under the Public Trust, as decided in Marks v. 

Whitney, 6 Cal.3d 251 (1971)); See also Arakaki v. Lingle, 477 F.3d 1048 (9th Cir. 2007) (holding 

state taxpayers did not have standing to sue the United States government for a violation of the 

public trust, but did have standing for an action in state court because it is the State’s obligation to 

protect the public trust). 

 Furthermore, cases have long recognized that “the rights of riparian owners are subject to 

the public’s right to use navigable waters provided under the public trust doctrine. Movrich v. 

Lobermeier, 372 Wis. 2d 724, 740 (2016). This is because “the bed or soil of navigable waters is 

held by the people of the state in their character as sovereign in trust for public uses for which they 

are adopted.” Ill. C. R. Co. v. Illinois, 146 U.S. 387, 457-58 (1892). The concept of a public trust 

use is sufficiently flexible to encompass changing public needs, such as the preservation of trust 

lands in their natural state so that they can be used and enjoyed by future generations. S.F. 
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Baykeeper, Inc. v. State Lands Com., 29 Cal. App. 5th 562, 579 (2018) (holding the State Lands 

Commission acted within its authority when granting mining leases because the leases would not 

impact public access to, or enjoyment of, public trust lands).  

Due to the flexibility of a public trust use, state courts have articulated that fishing, hunting, 

and navigating for commerce or pleasure are rights protected by the public trust doctrine. Glass v. 

Goeckel, 473 Mich. 667, 695 (2005) (holding riparian property owners’ rights superseded the 

public’s rights only to the extent they did not contravene the public trust and thus citizens could 

walk below the ordinary high water mark of the Great Lakes because the public trust doctrine 

applied to Great Lakes); See Nat’l Audubon Soc’y, 33 Cal. 3d 419 (1983); See also Movrich v. 

Lobermeier, 379 Wis. 2d 269 (2018)(affirming in part that rights of riparian property owners are 

subject to the public trust doctrine.) 

This case is analogous to National Audubon Society, where a non-profit organization had 

standing to permanently compel a riparian city water department to reduce water diversions 

because the diversions were harming recreational and ecological uses and that violated the public 

trust. In the instant case, the NUO is a non-profit organization representing the interests of oyster 

fisherman of Green Bay. R. at 10. Greenlawn’s municipal water withdrawals have reduced flows 

in the Bypass Reach to stagnant pools of water thereby harming the navigability of the waterway. 

R. at 9. Members of the NUO has suffered reduced catches and declining incomes because of 

smaller oyster harvests. R. at 10. Reduced flows have also impacted the Green River estuary, 

increasing the salinity of Green Bay and reducing the flow of nutrients into the ecosystem. R. at 

10. The municipal water withdrawals by Greenlawn are blatantly violating the protected 

navigability, commerce, fishing, and ecological rights under the public trust doctrine and the NUO 

as citizens of the state of New Union have standing to challenge those actions.  
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Additionally, the present case at bar is distinguished from both Arakaki and S.F. Baykeeper, 

Inc. In Arakaki, the plaintiff taxpayers sought to bring an action against the United States but were 

denied standing because the public trust is a state law issue. Here, NUO is bringing an action 

against Greenlawn, a municipal corporation, who may be held liable for violating the public trust 

doctrine. R. at 2. Finally, unlike S.F. Baykeeper, Inc., where the court found that because the 

mining leases were not harming public access or enjoyment of public lands, the municipal water 

withdrawals of Greenlawn are harming both access and enjoyment. The stagnant pools of water 

do not allow boats to access the Bypass Reach. R. at 9. The reduced flow in the river has caused 

recreational releases from the Howard Runnet Dam to be curtailed, stopping recreational 

enjoyment of the public lands. R. at 9.  

This Court has the flexibility to determine what a violation of the public trust is and a litany 

of case law from other jurisdictions shows that public trust rights supersede riparian property 

owners’ rights. There is clear and convincing evidence that Greenlawn’s municipal water 

withdrawal are violating the protected navigability, commerce, fishing, recreation, and ecological 

public trust rights that have been recognized and that those rights supersede Greenlawn’s riparian 

rights. This Court must find the NUO has standing for the First Claim of Relief.  

(B) DURING A DROUGHT, GREENLAWN DOES NOT HAVE A RIGHT AS A 

RIPARIAN LANDOWNER TO WITHDRAW WITHOUT CONSERVATION 

MEASURES  

 

 Appellant asks the court to reverse the district court’s grant of summary judgment in 

Greenlawn’s to their riparian rights to 30 CFS / 20 MGD withdrawals because their withdrawals 

are unreasonable and destroy the public use of water, creating a public nuisance. The court should 

enjoin Greenlawn, be remanded, and heard on its merits. 

The state of New Union applies common law riparian doctrine to the resolution of 
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competing claims to water. R. at 12. Under the common law, a riparian landowner has the right to 

. . . withdraw water to make reasonable use of the water in the stream so long as other owners have 

equal rights to make a similar reasonable use. Harris v. Brooks, 225 Ark. 436, 443 (1955). 

Furthermore, where one lawful use of water destroys another lawful use, the [former] must yield, 

or it may be enjoined. Id. at 445. In a test for reasonableness, the court considers “[1] what the use 

is for, . . . [2] the nature and size of the stream, and the several uses to which it is put, [3] the extent 

of the injury to one proprietor and the benefit to the other, [4] and all other facts which may bear 

upon the reasonableness of the use.” Id. at n.7. 

 It is unreasonable for a riparian landowner to withdraw unlimited water while unusually 

dry if it would decrease the level of the water in a way that would cause damage to other riparian 

landowners. Harris, 225 Ark. at 447 (holding it was unreasonable for appellee to pump water from 

a lake at a normal level because they were endangering fish, off of which appellant used to make 

a living and “mak[ing] the lake unsuitable for fishing . . . .) See also Taylor v. Tampa Coal Co., 46 

So. 2d 392, 394 (1950) (holding enjoining the defendant was the correct decision when the 

defendant pumped from a lake at its normal level which resulted in the rights of the plaintiffs being 

“seriously impaired and damaged”). 

 Both holdings are not only applicable to Greenlawn in this case, but Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals were even more severe than those of the appellee and defendant in Harris and Taylor 

respectively. In Harris, appellees pumped water from the already low lake with an “8-inch intake 

on May 25” and continued to pump for eighty-eight days, causing the appellant’s boats to rest on 

the shoreline and making it impossible for them to be rented to the public. In Taylor, the defendant 

pumped water during a time of “extremely dry weather in the area . . . some forty-nine inches 

lower than normal water level” in order to water his citrus grove, which caused the shoreline to 
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recede so far as to cause Hays’ trees and ferns to incur serious damage as well as impairing Tampa 

Coal’s “legal right to the normal enjoyment of such pleasures as boating, swimming, and fishing.” 

Here, Greenlawn withdrew close to all of the water flows in the Bypass Reach, averaging “about 

25 CFS over each 24-hour day.” R at 9. While Greenlawn withdrew this substantial amount, 

temperatures and water evaporation increased. R at 8. The result caused downstream flow rates to 

all but stop, leaving only stagnant pools of water and dribbling streams. R. at 9. The negative effect 

on the Bypass Reach resulted in a 50% drop in oyster harvests, which caused members of NUO to 

sell their fishing boats and stop their generational fishing operations. R. at 10.  

 Furthermore, it is unreasonable for a municipal upper riparian to withdraw water for its 

own purposes and not return an undiminished amount of water to the stream from which it 

acquired. Wheatley v. Chrisman, 24 Pa. 298 (1855) (holding an upper riparian proprietor 

committed a wrong when he diverted the natural flow of a stream from the plaintiff’s property and 

it resulted in a material diminution over a period of twenty-one years).  

 The diversion in Wheatley pales in comparison with the withdrawals made by Greenlawn. 

In Wheatley the court found that over a period of twenty-one years, there was a material diminution 

of water when the upper riparian landowner diverted a portion of the stream from the natural flow 

in order to operate his mine, after which it was diverted back and deposited into the river. While 

he “was allowed a reasonable quantity . . . for the purposes of business,” those purposes may 

require more water than he was entitled to take over a long period of time. Due to the loss of water 

over the years, the court awarded the plaintiff damages for the injury, which was a result of the 

diminution of his water rights.  

 Here, Greenlawn has not only taken water for decades, but as the city has grown, the 

amount of water withdrawn has increased greatly as well. R. at 5. Greenlawn withdraws the water 
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from the Bypass Reach and uses it for both domestic and industrial purposes, including its sewage 

treatment, after which the remainder is deposited into the Progress River. Id. Following the 

evaporation of the recreational water use and the sewage treated water being deposited into the 

Progress River, less than 5% of the water withdrawn gets returned into the Green River. R. at 6. 

Not only is Greenlawn taking more water and diverting it, but it is returning less than five percent 

of the water. Id    

Lastly, where there is a valuable public use of water that is destroyed by a riparian 

landowner such that it creates a private and public nuisance, that landowner “should be restrained 

and enjoined . . . from any further” actions creating the problem. Meriwether Sand & Gravel Co. 

v. State, 181 Ark. 216, 220 (1930) (holding a gravel plant’s riparian rights were unreasonably 

harmful so far as to destroy both the river and the fish within it, “render[ing] it unfit for. . . use or 

pleasure”). “When an appropriator diverts more water than necessary for a specific beneficial use, 

‘he is appropriating to himself that which belongs to others who are entitled to a like use, and to 

that extent is obstructing the necessary use of water so as to interfere with its beneficial use, and 

which [by statute] . . . is declared to be a public nuisance.’” New Mexico v. GE, 335 F. Supp. 2d 

1185, 1233 (D.N.M. 2004). 

If this court should find that NUO is does not have rights as a riparian landowner, there 

must be relief available due to Greenlawn’s compete destruction of the public’s use of water. In 

Meriwether, a gravel mine deposited their silt into a creek inhabited by fish, causing the fish to 

abandon the waters, rendering the fishermen unable to catch fish, and making the waters unsuitable 

for swimming. The court determined that because the recurring injuries to the stream caused 

extensive damage, and the injury was not slight. Greenlawn’s extensive recurring water 

withdrawal from the Bypass Reach has depleted the water levels to all but empty. R. at 6. This has 
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caused oyster harvests to drastically decline causing fishermen who had been fishing there for 

generations to go out of business. R. at 10. These excessive withdrawals have degraded their 

habitat thus killing roughly a quarter of the endangered oval pigtoe mussel population. R. at 9 This 

withdrawal of water is a significant injury to the public and completely destroys their use of the 

water. 

Because Greenlawn is withdrawing unlimited water during a dry season without returning 

the remainder to the original water source, this interferes with other public water rights and 

destroys the public use of the Green River. The district court erred in granting summary judgment 

to Greenlawn and must overturn the lower court’s decision to grant summary judgment, enjoin 

Greenlawn from withdrawing water without any conservation measures during drought periods, 

and remand to the lower court.  

II. THE OPERATION OF HOWARD RUNNET DAM DURING DROUGHT 

CONDITIONS IS A DISCRETIONARY ACTION SUBJECT TO § 7 

CONSULTATION REQUIREMENTS. 

 

 NUO asks the court to reverse the district court’s dismissal of NUO’s ESA claims against 

ACOE because their operation of Howard Runnet Dam during drought conditions is a 

discretionary action that requires a § 7 consultation. The issue should be remanded to the district 

court and heard on its merits.   

 Under § 7(a)(2):  

“Each Federal agency shall, in consultation with and with the 

assistance of the Secretary, insure that any action authorized, 

funded, or carried out by such agency (hereinafter in this section 

referred to as an ‘agency action’) is not likely to jeopardize the 

continued existence of any endangered species or threatened species 

or result in the destruction or adverse modification of habitat of such 

species which is determined by the Secretary, after consultation as 

appropriate with affected States, to be critical, unless such agency 

has been granted an exemption for such action by the Committee 

pursuant to subsection (h) of this section. In fulfilling the 
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requirements of this paragraph each agency shall use the best 

scientific and commercial data available.” 16 U.S.C. 1536(b). 

 

Under § 7(a)(2), an action is defined as “all activities or programs of any kind authorized, funded, 

or carried out, in whole or in part, by Federal agencies in the United States or upon the high seas. 

Examples include but are not limited to…actions directly or indirectly causing modification to 

land, water, or air.” 50 C.F.R. 402.02(d).  

 Additionally, agency actions must also be discretionary for § 7 consultation requirements 

to apply. National Association of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife states “that § 7(a)(2)’s 

no-jeopardy duty covers only discretionary agency actions and does not attach to actions…that an 

agency is required by statute to undertake once certain specified triggering events have occurred.” 

Nat’l Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644, 669 (2007).  

 Here, ACOE’s affirmative agency action is the control of water flow levels from the dam, 

and it is discretionary because its statutory mandate is broadly construed and does not contain 

specific triggering events that would require the agency to act in a specified manner. Therefore, § 

7(a)(2) consultation requirements apply to ACOE’s releases from the Howard Runnet Dam. 

Additionally, even if the court does not find ACOE’s control of the dam’s water levels to 

be discretionary action, ACOE’s water agreements negotiations with Greenlawn are discretionary 

actions subject to § 7 consultation requirements because there is agency discretion during the water 

agreement negotiation process.   

A. Greenlawn’s argument that the Water Control Manual supersedes the ESA 

because it was created before the ESA is unpersuasive because ACOE can deliver 

less than the contractually agreed upon amount of water in order to comply with 

the ESA, and thus the ESA applies to the operation of the Howard Runnet Dam.  

 

 An agency can deliver less than a contractually agreed upon amount of water in order to  
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comply with subsequently enacted federal law. O’Neill v. United States, 50 F.3d 677, 686 (9th Cir. 

1995) (holding a contract does not obligate the government to furnish the full contractual amount 

of water when that water cannot be delivered consistently with the requirements of the Endangered 

Species Act (“ESA”) where a water service contract did obligate the government to supply 900,000 

acre-feet of water, but reasoned the contract is not immune from subsequently enacted statutes 

such as the ESA.) . Additionally, the court in Houston held even if the original contracts guaranteed 

“the non-Federal Defendants a right to a similar share of available water in the renewal contracts, 

the Bureau had discretion to alter other key terms in the contract, and the Bureau may be able to 

reduce the amount of water available for sale if necessary to comply with the ESA.” Natural Res. 

Def. Council v. Houston, 146 F.3d 1118, 1126 (9th Cir. 1998).  

 Both holdings apply to ACOE in this instance, where ACOE negotiated water agreements 

with Greenlawn in order to supply specified amounts as agreed upon. R. at 7. Although these 

agreements and the Water Control Manual were created before the existence of the ESA, ACOE 

can increase or decrease the amount of water available in order to comply with the ESA, like in 

O’Neill. Subsequently enacted statutes, such as the ESA, do not preclude an agency from 

compliance with its provisions. Therefore, ACOE and Greenlawn’s argument on this point must 

fail. 

B.  ACOE’s operation of the dam is an agency action because the changes in water level are 

an affirmative authorization, and ACOE had discretion to change the water level for the 

benefit of a protected species, the oval pigtoe mussel.  

 

Under Karuk Tribe of California v. United States Forest Service, the “agency action”  

inquiry is two-fold. Karuk Tribe of California v. United States Forest Serv., 681 F.3d 1006, 1021 

(9th Cir. 2013) (cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 1579 (2013)). In a two-step analysis, the court first asks 

“whether a federal agency affirmatively authorized, funded, or carried out the underlying activity.” 
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Id. The court then determines “whether the agency had some discretion to influence or change the 

activity for the benefit of a protected species.” Id.   

 The operation of the Howard Runnet Dam is an affirmative action because the operation 

of a dam has long been recognized by the Court as an affirmative action. Tenn. Valley Auth. v. 

Hill, 437 U.S. 153 (1978). Additionally, ACOE had some discretion to change the activity, the 

water release, for the benefit of the protected species because it could change the water level to be 

within the parameters of the Water Control Manual while still benefitting the survival of the oval 

pigtoe mussel.  

 i.  Because ACOE carried out the underlying activity of the operation of the Howard 

   Runnet Dam, it is an affirmative authorization. 

 

In Karuk, the court held “the test under the ESA is whether the agency authorizes, funds, 

or carries out the activity, at least in part.” Karuk, 681 F.3d at 1023-24 (9th Cir. 2013) (emphasis 

included in original). “Under Section 7 of the ESA, a federal agency action need not be “major” 

to trigger the duty to consult. It need only be an ‘agency action.’” Id. at 1024.   

The Court has repeatedly held the ESA’s use of the term “agency action” is to be construed 

broadly, where an example of an agency action triggering § 7 consultation includes “the ongoing 

construction and operation of a federal dam.” Karuk, 681 F.3d at 1021 (2012) (referencing Tenn. 

Valley Auth., 437 U.S. at 173-74 (1978)).  

Here, the agency action is the operation of the federal dam, Howard Runnet Dam. The 

remaining question is if ACOE’s water level determinations are discretionary agency actions 

subject to § 7 consultation requirements. ACOE’s water level determinations are discretionary 

agency actions and therefore should be subject to § 7 consultation requirements.   
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 ii.  ACOE has some discretion to change the water level for the benefit of the oval  

  pigtoe mussel because its statutory mandate (insert name of statute) is broadly  

  construed and has complementary objectives.  

 There is no duty to consult for actions “that an agency is required by statute to undertake 

once certain specified triggering events have occurred.” National Ass’n of Home Builders, 551 

U.S. at 669 (emphasis in original). Additionally, “to avoid the consultation obligation, an agency’s 

competing statutory mandate must require that it perform specific nondiscretionary acts rather than 

achieve broad goals.” Karuk at 1024 (citing Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 

524 F.3d 917, 928-29 (9th Cir. 2008)). An agency cannot escape its obligation to comply with the 

ESA merely because it is bound to comply with another statute that has consistent, complementary 

objectives. Id.  See also California v. United States, 438 U.S. 645, 688 (year) (holding a statutory 

requirement that federal operating agencies conform to state water usage rules applied only to the 

extent that it was not “inconsistent with other congressional directives”).  

 The relevant question is whether the agency could influence a private activity to benefit a 

listed species, not whether it must do so. Karuk, 681 F.3d at 1025. Here, ACOE could influence 

the amount Greenlawn is able to withdraw from the Green River by changing the amount of water 

released from the dam. By changing the amount of water released, this would benefit the listed 

species, the oval pigtoe mussel.  

C.  National Association of Home Builders is not inconsistent with the present case as argued 

by appellees because the operation of the Howard Runnet Dam is according to a broad 

congressional mandate rather than specific agency actions. 

 

A 2007 Supreme Court decision held that the consultation process is required only for  

those federal actions that involve agency discretion. Nat’l Ass’n of Home Builders v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644 (2007) (holding that no Section 7 consultation was required to transfer 

permitting power to a state under the Clean Water Act (CWA) because once the CWA statutory 

factors were met, EPA had no choice but to execute the transfer). 
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In National Wildlife Federation v. National Marine Fisheries Service, the Ninth Circuit 

addressed the impact of agency discretion on the scope of a biological opinion developed as a 

result of consultation under § 7(a). Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 524 F.3d 

917 (9th Cir. 2008). The NOAA Fisheries issued a biological opinion on the effects of dam 

operations at the Federal Columbia River Power System in the Columbia and Lower Snake Rivers. 

Id.  The NOAA Fisheries took the position that the existence of the dams was beyond the discretion 

of the Corps of Engineers, which operated the dams, and that an action agency need not consult 

on any element of a pre-existing project that is beyond its current discretion or control. Id. As a 

result, NOAA claimed, the existing dams and nondiscretionary dam operations were part of the 

environmental baseline, together with all past and present impacts from discretionary operations. 

Id.   

The Ninth Circuit affirmed the district court’s holding that § 7(a)(2) consultation 

obligations applied to existing dam operations. The court reasoned that the Supreme Court's 

decision in National Association of Home Builders (which was filed after publication of the Ninth 

Circuit's original opinion but before the submission of a petition for rehearing) did not dictate a 

different result. Unlike in National Association of Home Builders, this case dealt with broad 

congressional mandates rather than dictating specific agency actions, and NOAA was “perfectly 

capable of simultaneously obeying Section 7 and those mandates.” The court responded that 

neither the ESA nor National Association of Home Builders allows agencies “to ignore potential 

jeopardy risks by labeling parts of an action nondiscretionary.” Id. at 928.  

NMFS is like this case because ACOE was given a broad congressional mandate to follow 

when Congress passed the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act of 1958, Pub. L. No. 85-624, 72 

Stat. 563 (1958). The Act states “the Secretary of the Interior is authorized (1) to provide assistance 
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to, and cooperate with, Federal, State, and public or private agencies and organizations in the 

development, protection, rearing, and stocking of all species of wildlife, resources thereof, and 

their habitat…” 16 U.S.C. § 661.  

Similar to NMFS where the court found Congress had imposed broad mandates which do 

not direct agencies to perform any specific nondiscretionary actions “but are better characterized 

as directing the agencies to achieve particular goals,” Congress “added fish and wildlife purposes 

as an authorized purpose for all ACOE administered dams,” to include the Howard Runnet Dam. 

R. at 6. This broad congressional mandate does not conflict with the holding in National 

Association of Home Builders, and ACOE is capable of complying with both the congressional 

mandates and the § 7(a)(2) consultation requirements.  

D.  Even if the court finds ACOE’s dam operations and change in water levels are a 

nondiscretionary action, ACOE’s negotiations of the water agreements with Greenlawn are 

discretionary action and therefore subject to § 7(a)(2) consultation requirements.   

  

i. Contract negotiation and execution are agency action. 

 

 The Houston court stated, “defendants argue that the ESA did not apply to the contract 

renewals because the renewals were not ‘agency action.’ This argument must fail.” Natural Res. 

Def. Council v. Houston, 146 F.3d 1118, 1125 (9th Cir. 1998). Contract renewals were held to be 

agency action. As such, the water agreement contract renewals between ACOE and Greenlawn are 

also agency action.  

 ii.  There is agency discretion during the water agreement negotiation process.  

“The federal reclamation laws, which provided the right to renewal, state that the 

government is to renew the contracts on “mutually agreeable” terms, that water rights are based 

on the amount of available project water, and that the Secretary of the Interior (Secretary) has the 

discretion to set rates to cover an appropriate share of the operation and maintenance costs.” The 
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court held “clearly, there was some discretion available to the Bureau during the negotiation 

process.” Natural Res. Def. Council v. Houston, 146 F.3d 1118, 1126 (9th Cir. 1998) 

Seeing as ACOE’s control of water flow levels from the dam is discretionary because its 

statutory mandate is broadly construed and does not contain specific triggering events that would 

require the agency to act in a specified manner, § 7(a)(2) consultation requirements apply to 

ACOE’s releases from the Howard Runnet Dam. 

Additionally, even if the court does not find ACOE’s control of the dam’s water levels to 

be discretionary action, ACOE’s water agreements negotiations with Greenlawn are discretionary 

actions subject to § 7 consultation requirements because there is agency discretion during the water 

agreement negotiation process. The issue should be remanded, heard on its merits, and a 

preliminary injunction should be issued. 

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING GREENLAWN 

COMMITTED A TAKE UNDER THE ESA WHEN GREENLAWN’S WATER 

WITHDRAWALS OF THE DROUGHT-REDUCED FLOW CONSUMED THE 

ENTIRE FLOW OF GREEN RIVER CAUSING THE MODIFICATION AND 

DEGRADATION OF THE OVAL PIGTOE MUSSELS’ HABITAT. 

 

The Court should affirm the District Court’s ruling that Greenlawn’s water withdrawals 

from the drought-reduced flow violate § 9 of the ESA. Greenlawn violated § 9 of the ESA when 

its water withdrawals harmed the endangered oval pigtoe mussel by causing the modification and 

degradation of the oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat to the point where the species can no longer breed 

or survive due to the drastic decrease in water level, and that harm was proximately caused by 

Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals. 

 Greenlawn is subject to the § 9 take prohibition. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B) states “it is 

unlawful for any person subject to the jurisdiction of the United States to take any such species 

within the United States.” As a result of the ESA's broad definition of “person,” ESA prohibitions 
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on taking or causing a taking apply to “an individual, corporation . . . ; any officer, employee, 

agent, department, or instrumentality of the Federal Government, of any State, municipality, or 

political subdivision of a State . . . ; any State, municipality, or political subdivision of a State; 

[and] . . . any other entity subject to the jurisdiction of the United States.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13) 

(2000). Greenlawn is subject to the § 9 take prohibition under 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13) (2000) because 

it is a municipality.  

 Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals have harmed the oval pigtoe mussel by 

modifying and degrading its habitat thus resulting in an unlawful take. “Take” is broadly defined 

as to “harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or attempt to engage 

in any such conduct.” 16 U.S.C.A. §§ 1532(19), 1538(a)(1). “Harass” includes actions that would 

create a likelihood of injury to wildlife by annoying it to such an extent as to significantly disrupt 

normal behavioral patterns such as breeding, feeding, or sheltering. 50 C.F.R. § 17.3. Harm is then 

defined further by the Department of Interior regulations implementing the statute, as: 

“Harm in the definition of ‘take’ in the Act means an act which 

actually kills or injures wildlife. Such an act may include significant 

habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures 

wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, 

including breeding, feeding, or sheltering.” 50 C.F.R. 222.102. 

 

Furthermore, the Court in Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Cmtys. for a Great Or., 515 

U.S. 687, 704 (1995) specified the ESA was meant to “make clear that Congress intended ‘take’ 

to apply broadly to cover indirect as well as purposeful actions.”  “Take” further includes “harm . 

. . not only direct physical injury, but also injury caused by impairment of essential behavior 

patterns via habitat modification that can have significant and permanent effects on a listed 

species.” Palila v. Haw. Dep't of Land & Nat. Res., 852 F.2d 1106, 1108 (9th Cir. 1988).  
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 In applying the take prohibition of Section 9, courts apply concepts from tort law. For 

example, it is well established that principles of proximate cause apply to Section 9 claims. Natural 

Res. Def. Council v. Zinke, 347 F.Supp.3d 465, 487 (E.D.Cal 2018) (citing Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 

700 n.13). In applying the § 9 take prohibition, Zinke states there must be a harm, a cause in fact, 

proximate cause, and foreseeability. Zinke, 347 F.Supp.3d at 486 (citing Paroline v. United States, 

572 U.S. 434, 444 (2014)). 

A. The Green River oval pigtoe mussel population has been harmed because 25% of the 

population has died as a result of habitat modification that further threatens the 

survival of the remainder of the population.  

 

 25% of the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population has died in the Green River from 

the reduced water levels. R. at 9. The reduced river water level in the Green River, downstream 

from the Howard Runnet Dam, exposed several beds of oval pigtoe mussels, a federally listed 

endangered species. Id. The oval pigtoe mussel require gravel or silty sand riverbeds, with slow to 

moderate currents, as habitat. Id. oval pigtoe mussel also require a healthy population of host 

species to spawn. Id. However, the stagnant water causes increased siltation, “smothering mussel 

populations and eliminating necessary habitat.” Id. Although adult oval pigtoe mussel can adapt 

to minor changes in water levels, the severely reduced flows in the Green River in Spring of 2017 

“essentially eliminated any possibility for the oval pigtoe mussels to remain submerged.” Id. oval 

pigtoe mussel habitat was exposed from the Howard Runnet Dam to the estuary, 60 miles 

downstream. Id. NUO’s expert offered uncontradicted testimony that “these conditions resulted in 

the death of approximately 25% of the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population” and that if the 

conditions were allowed to persist, they would “entirely eliminate the Green River population of 

the oval pigtoe mussel.” Id.  
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B. Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawal upriver from oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat is 

the cause in fact of oval pigtoe mussels’ injury.  

 

 Greenlawn extreme withdrawals of the flow into Green River is the factual cause of the 

death of 25% of the oval pigtoe mussel population. But-for Greenlawn’s excessive withdrawals 

from the Green River, the endangered oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat downstream would be fully 

submerged in water and not exposed to the air.  

 In Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter of Communities for a Great Oregon, a majority of the 

Justices of the United States Supreme Court held that a prohibited “take” in violation of the ESA 

can be caused by an indirect act as well as by a direct act, Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 697-98, and that the 

FWS regulation defining “harm” is subject to “ordinary requirements of proximate causation and 

foreseeability . . .[and] ‘but for’ causation.” Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 700 n.13. Additionally, the Court 

in Paroline recognized a similar rule, that the “traditional way to prove that one event was a factual 

cause of another is to show that the latter would not have occurred ‘but for’ the former.” Paroline, 

572 U.S. 434, 449-50 (2014). As an alternative, the Court examined a different causal test: “[w]hen 

the conduct of two or more actors is so related to an event that their combined conduct, viewed as 

a whole, is a but-for cause of the event, the application of the but-for rule to them individually 

would absolve all of them, the conduct of each is a cause in fact of the event.” Id. at 451.  

Greenlawn excessive water withdrawals from the Green River resulted in the death of 25% 

of the oval pigtoe mussel population, and is the factual cause of the death of 25% of the oval pigtoe 

mussel population because “but-for” Greenlawn’s withdrawals, the endangered oval pigtoe 

mussels’ habitat downstream would be fully submerged in water and not exposed to the air. But-

for the withdrawals, the oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat would not be modified.  

If the court uses the alternative causal test, Greenlawn would still be found as a cause in 

fact of the event. Where the combined conduct of two actors is so related that it is a but-for cause 
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of the event, and the but-for rule applied to them individually would absolve all of them, the 

conduct of each is a cause in fact of the event. Paroline, 572 U.S at 451. Because both ACOE and 

Greenlawn have contributed to the drastic decrease in water level in the Green River, the court’s 

alternative analysis would still find the conduct of each as the cause in fact of the event.  

Greenlawn’s continued excessive and unfettered withdrawals is the but-for destructive 

cause of the critical habitat for the oval pigtoe mussel and therefore, within the scope of the take 

prohibition under the ESA.  

C. Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals upriver from oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat 

modifies and degrades oval pigtoe mussel habitat downstream and is the proximate and 

foreseeable cause of the death of 25% of the oval pigtoe mussel population as well as 

the proximate cause of the population’s threatened survival because Greenlawn’s 

actions are fairly traceable to oval pigtoe mussels’ harm. 

 

 Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals outside of oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat are the 

proximate and foreseeable cause of the oval pigtoe mussel’s demise due to Greenlawn’s 

withdrawals directly impacting the lower water level therefore modifying and destroying oval 

pigtoe mussels’ habitat downstream. “Proximate cause is a flexible concept, that generally refers 

to the basic requirement that there must be some direct relation between the injury asserted and 

the injurious conduct alleged.” Zinke, 347 F.Supp.3d at 486. “A requirement of proximate cause 

thus serves, inter alia, to preclude liability in situations where the causal link between conduct and 

result is so attenuated that the consequence is more aptly described as mere fortuity.” Id. at 487. It 

is well established proximate cause applies to § 9. Id. (citing Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 700 n.13). 

 Eliminating a threatened species' habitat can constitute “taking” that species for purposes 

of § 9. Envtl. Protection Info. Ctr. v. Simpson Timber Co., 255 F.3d 1073, 1075 (9th Cir. 2001) 

(citing Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 697-98). Congress made clear that the take provision under the ESA 

was to include both direct and indirect actions. Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 704 (holding “dictionary 
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definition does not include the word ‘directly’ or suggest in any way that only direct or willful 

action that leads to injury constitutes ‘harm.’ Moreover, unless the statutory term ‘harm’ 

encompasses indirect as well as direct injuries, the word has no meaning that does not duplicate 

the meaning of other words that § 3 uses to define ‘take.’”).  

 Harming a species may be indirect, in that the harm may be caused by habitat modification, 

but habitat modification does not constitute harm unless it “actually kills or injures wildlife.” Defs. 

of Wildlife v. Bernal, 204 F.3d 920, 924-25 (9th Cir. 1999) Additionally, a reasonably certain threat 

or imminent harm to an endangered or threatened species is sufficient to show a violation of § 9. 

Marled Murrelet v. Babbitt, 83 F.3d 1060 (9th Cir. 1996).  

 Here, oval pigtoe mussels’ habitat has been modified by Greenlawn in numerous ways. As 

a result of Greenlawn’s unfettered water withdrawals from the Green River, the extremely low 

water level has resulted in the exposure of several beds of oval pigtoe mussel. R. at 9. At one time, 

the exposure of the beds of oval pigtoe mussel went on for 60 continuous miles. Id. Additionally, 

oval pigtoe mussels require a healthy population of host fish species in order to spawn, as the larval 

mussels must attach themselves to the gills of particular fish species in order to mature. Id. The 

lower water levels in Green River result in stagnant water, and stagnant water causes increased 

siltation that smothers mussel populations and eliminates the endangered species’ necessary 

habitat.   

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ISSUING AN INJUNCTION 

BECAUSE THE COURT DOES NOT HAVE TO BALANCE THE EQUITIES 

BEFORE ENJOINING THE MUNICIPAL ACTIVITY WHEN THE ACTIVITY 

RESULTS IN THE EXTIRPATION OF AN ENTIRE POPULATION OF AN 

ENDANGERED SPECIES AND ONLY NEED CONSIDER THE IRREPARABLE 

INJURY.  

  

The court did not err when it issued an injunction enjoining Greenlawn from  
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making water withdrawals that have the effect of reducing downstream flows below the rate 

necessary for mussel survival. R. at 18.  As such, NUO asks this court to affirm the district court’s 

issuance of an injunction against water withdrawals that cause the flow of the Green River 

downstream of the Howard Runnet Dam to drop below 25 cubic feet per second averaged over 

twenty-four hours. 

A plaintiff seeking a permanent injunction must show:(1) that it has suffered an irreparable 

injury; (2) that remedies available at law, such as monetary damages, are inadequate to compensate 

for that injury; (3) that, considering the balance of hardships between the plaintiff and defendant, 

a remedy in equity is warranted; and (4) that the public interest would not be disserved by a 

permanent injunction. Cottonwood Envt’l Law Ctr. v. U.S. Forest Serv., 789 F.3d 1075, 1088 (9th 

Cir. 2015) (quoting eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547 U.S. 388, 391 (2006)). 

However, a district court will issue an injunction pending appeal based on the irreparable 

environmental consequences that might ensue if a challenged action were to proceed, even though 

the other three criteria for an injunction are not satisfied. Western Land Exch. Project v. Dombeck, 

47 F. Supp. 2d 1216 (D. Or. 1999). Cottonwood held “[t]he ESA strips courts of at least some of 

their equitable discretion in determining whether injunctive relief is warranted.” Cottonwood, 789 

F.3d at 1090.  

Thus, the ESA removes the latter three factors in the four-factor injunctive relief test from 

the court’s equitable discretion. Id. When considering an injunction under the ESA, the court must 

presume that remedies at law are inadequate, that the balance of interests weighs in favor of 

protecting endangered species, and that the public interest would not be disserved by an injunction. 

Id. The ESA does not, however, restrict the court’s discretion to decide whether a plaintiff has 

suffered an irreparable injury. Id. “[T]here is no presumption of irreparable injury where there has 
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been a procedural violation in ESA cases.” Id. at 1091. Plaintiffs must demonstrate that irreparable 

injury “is likely in the absence of an injunction.” Winter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 

U.S 7, 22 (2008) (emphasis in original). A mere “possibility” of irreparable harm is “too lenient” 

and cannot support an injunction. Id.  

There is no mere possibility of irreparable harm to the oval pigtoe mussel because there is 

definite irreparable harm. NUO’s expert has stated in deposition testimony the major changes in 

water levels from Greenlawn’s excessive withdrawals has already “resulted in the death of 

approximately 25% of the Green River oval pigtoe mussel population.” R. at 9. The expert then 

goes on to state, “if allowed to persist, these conditions would entirely eliminate the Green River 

population of the oval pigtoe mussel.” R. at 9. Because 25% of an the endangered oval pigtoe 

mussel population has died in addition to the inevitability of extinction if these water conditions 

continue, the district court’s finding of irreparable harm should be upheld, and the injunction 

should be affirmed.    

A. The district court did not err in granting the injunction because the reasonably certain 

threat of irreparable harm to the oval pigtoe mussels is exactly the harm sought to be 

protected by the ESA’s purpose and is therefore sufficient for an issuance of an 

injunction under section 9 of the ESA. 

 

The district court did not err when it found irreparable harm without finding an extinction-

level threat to the listed oval pigtoe mussels. Irreparable harm is determined by reference to the 

purposes of the statute being enforced. See Garcia v. Google, 786 F.3d 733, 744-45 (9th Cir. 2015) 

(en banc) (rejecting allegations of irreparable harm because the harm was not to legal interests 

meant to be protected by copyright law); see also Sierra Club v. Marsh, 872 F.2d 497, 502-03 (1st 

Cir. 1989) (stating that the kinds of harms that may be irreparable “will be different according to 

each statute’s structure and purpose”). 
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The Endangered Species Act of 1973 is “the most comprehensive legislation for the 

preservation of endangered species ever enacted by any nation.”  TVA, 437 U.S. at 180 (1978). 

The stated purposes of the ESA are to “provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon which 

endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved,” and “to provide a program 

for the conservation of such ... species ....” 16 U.S.C. §1531(b). The ESA specifically defines 

“conserve” as meaning “to use and the use of all methods and procedures which are necessary to 

bring any endangered species or threatened species to the point at which the measures provided 

pursuant to this chapter are no longer necessary.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 180 (emphasis in original), 

citing 16 U.S.C. § 1532(2).  

 § 7 is the “heart of the ESA.” W. Watersheds Project v. Kraayenbrink, 632 F.3d 472, 495 

(9th Cir. 2011). Under § 7, the Forest service must consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service to 

“insure that any action authorized, funded or carried out by such agency is not likely” to destroy 

or adversely modify critical habitat for the species. 16 U.S.C. §1536(a)(2). “[T]he legislative 

history undergirding § 7 reveals an explicit congressional decision to require agencies to afford 

first priority to the declared national policy of saving endangered species.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 185. 

Additionally, § 7 “amplifies the obligation of federal agencies to take steps within their 

power to carry out the purposes of this act.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 183. § 7 “requires the Secretary and 

the heads of all other Federal departments and agencies to use their authorities in order to carry 

out programs for the protection of endangered species, and it further requires that those agencies 

take the necessary action that will not jeopardize the continuing existence of endangered species 

or result in the destruction of critical habitat of those species.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 182-83 (emphases 

in original), citing H.R. Rep. No. 93-412, p.14 (1973).   
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“Harming a species may be indirect, in that the harm may be caused by habitat 

modification, but habitat modification does not constitute harm unless it “actually kills or injures 

wildlife.” Def. of Wildlife v. Bernal, 204 F.3d 920, 924-25 (9th Cir. 2000). Bernal explains in 

Babbitt the Court upheld the definition of “harm” as encompassing habitat modification and 

emphasized “every term in the regulation's definition of ‘harm’ is subservient to the phrase ‘an act 

which actually kills or injures wildlife.’” Id. (citing Babbitt, 515 U.S. at 700 n.13 (1995)). The 

Bernal court explained that in Marbled Murrelet v. Babbitt, 83 F.3d 1060, 1066 (9th Cir.1996), 

the court held that the Supreme Court's decision in Sweet Home does not overrule Rosboro and 

that a reasonably certain threat of imminent harm to a protected species is sufficient for issuance 

of an injunction under § 9 of the ESA.” Bernal, 204 F.3d at 924-25 (9th Cir. 2000); Forest 

Conservation Council v. Rosboro Lumber Co., 50 F.3d 781, 783 (9th Cir.1995) (holding habitat 

modification that is reasonably certain to injure an endangered species by impairing their essential 

behavioral patterns satisfied the actual injury requirement and was sufficient to justify a permanent 

injunction). 

There is no mere possibility of irreparable harm to the oval pigtoe mussel here because 

irreparable harm has already occurred, and the injunction should be affirmed. NUO’s expert has 

stated in deposition testimony, the major changes in water levels from Greenlawn’s excessive 

withdrawals has already “resulted in the death of approximately 25% of the Green River oval 

pigtoe population.” R. at 9. The expert then goes on to state, “if allowed to persist, these conditions 

would entirely eliminate the Green River population of the oval pigtoe mussel.” R. at 9. 

B. Because TVA v. Hill held courts do not have discretion in balancing parties’ competing 

interests in ESA cases, the court here cannot balance the equities before enjoining 

Greenlawn’s excessive withdrawals that threaten to extirpate the endangered Green 

River oval pigtoe mussel population.  
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TVA held that courts do not have discretion to balance the parties' competing interests in 

ESA cases because Congress “afford[ed] first priority to the declared national policy of saving 

endangered species.” 437 U.S. at 185. TVA also held that Congress established an unparalleled 

public interest in the “incalculable” value of preserving endangered species. Id. at 187–88, 98. It 

is the incalculability of the injury that renders the “remedies available at law, such as monetary 

damages ... inadequate.” See eBay, 547 U.S. at 391; see also Amoco Prod. Co. v. Vill. of Gambell, 

480 U.S. 531, 545 (1987) (holding “environmental injury, by its nature, can seldom be adequately 

remedied by money damages....”); Cal. ex rel. Lockyer v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 575 F.3d 999 (9th 

Cir.2009) (same). But, although TVA clarified that the “language, history, and structure” of the 

ESA, TVA, 437 U.S. at 174, remove several factors in the four-factor test from a court's equitable 

jurisdiction, TVA did not resolve whether plaintiffs must establish irreparable injury. Cottonwood, 

789 F.3d at 1090. 

TVA rejected equitable balancing. A majority of the Court concluded it was not appropriate 

for courts to balance the costs and benefits of an injunction as a remedy for a statutory violation 

because “the plain intent of Congress in enacting this statute was to halt and reverse the trend 

toward species extinction, whatever the cost.” TVA, 437 U.S. at 184. 

First, the Court concluded balancing would require it to assess and compare the value of 

seemingly incommensurable interests: a federal hydroelectric project and an endangered fish. The 

Court relied on separation-of-powers principles in holding that it could not make such a 

comparison because, as the Court read the ESA, Congress had concluded that endangered species 

have incalculable value: “Quite obviously, it would be difficult for a court to balance the loss of a 

sum certain—even $100 million—against a congressionally declared ‘incalculable’ value, even 

assuming we had the power to engage in such a weighing process, which we emphatically do not.” 
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TVA, 437 U.S. at 187-88. Second, the Court concluded that balancing competing interests amounts 

to a legislative task and therefore exceeds its judicial role:  

While “[i]t is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial 

department to say what the law is,” it is equally—and 

emphatically—the exclusive province of the Congress not only to 

formulate legislative policies and mandate programs and projects, 

but also to establish their relative priority for the Nation. Once 

Congress, exercising its delegated powers, has decided the order of 

priorities in a given area, it is for the Executive to administer the 

laws and for the courts to enforce them when enforcement is sought. 

Id. at 194 (quoting Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 177 

(1803)). 

 

Congress, the Court concluded, had already balanced the costs and benefits in favor of 

preservation, and the courts had no business second-guessing Congress’s judgment. Id. at 195.1 

The court here should follow TVA and not second-guess Congress’s judgment in protecting 

endangered species and should uphold the district court’s decision to issue an injunction.   

C. The court’s adoption and application of equitable balancing in other statutory cases 

does not apply to the ESA because those cases can be distinguished on the basis that 

saving endangered species is of the utmost importance.  

  

In Weinberger v. Romero-Barcelo, decided four years after the snail darter case, the Court 

significantly backed away from the reasoning of TVA and held courts should not enjoin violations 

of the Clean Water Act unless the injunction is supported by the balance of equities. Weinberger 

v. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 312, 320 (1982). Since then, the Court has construed every 

federal statute it has examined to require equitable balancing. Amoco Production Co. v. Village of 

Gambell holds the Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (“ANILCA”) requires 

equitable balancing, Amoco Prod. Co., 480 U.S. at 542 (1987), and Winter extends this trend to the 

                                                 
1 (“[I]n our constitutional system the commitment to the separation of powers is too fundamental for 

us to pre-empt congressional action by judicially decreeing what accords with ‘common sense and 

the public weal.’”). As the Court later more bluntly explained, “Congress, it appeared to us, had 

chosen the snail darter over the dam.” Weinberger v. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. 305, 314 (1982). 
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National Environmental Policy Act, holding injunctions can be issued to order the government to 

stop violating that statute only when justified by the balance of equities. Winter, 555 U.S at 376.  

In Romero-Barcelo, the Court interpreted the Clean Water Act not to foreclose equitable 

balancing. Romero-Barcelo, 456 U.S. at 320 (holding equitable balancing is applies to the Clean 

Water Act where the Navy violated the Clean Water Act by dropping bombs into the water 

reasoning that balancing the equities was a long established principle and the court does not lightly 

assume Congress intended to depart from such principles). The Court distinguished TVA from 

Romero-Barcelo on the ground that the ESA establishes an absolute prohibition on federal actions 

that jeopardize endangered species, which the Court construed to signal Congress intended to 

deprive courts of their usual discretion to select among available remedies. Id. at 314 (holding “the 

purpose and language of the statute limited the remedies available to the District Court; only an 

injunction could vindicate the objectives of the Act.”). In contrast, the Clean Water Act authorizes 

the issuance of permits allowing pollution discharges, which the Court construed to anticipate 

permitting agencies would exercise discretion and balancing, suggesting that the courts too should 

be allowed to apply their traditional discretion in determining appropriate remedies for statutory 

violations. Id. at 314-16.  

Additionally, the court in Amoco distinguished TVA by holding “Congress, in the 

Endangered Species Act…had foreclosed the traditional discretion possessed by an equity court 

and had required the District Court to enjoin completion of the Tellico Dam in order to preserve 

the snail darter, an endangered species.” Amoco, 480 U.S. at 556 n.9. In Amoco, there was no clear 

indication from Congress ANILCA intended to limit district courts' traditional equitable discretion 

by requiring them to issue injunctions in all cases whereas the ESA created a flat ban on the 

destruction of critical habitat. Amoco, 480 U.S. at 532.  
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 NUO asks this court to affirm the district court’s issuance of an injunction against water 

withdrawals that cause the flow of the Green River downstream of the Howard Runnet Dam to 

drop below 25 cubic feet per second averaged over twenty-four hours. Because the court need not 

balance the equities in deciding on injunctive relief and need only consider if irreparable injury is 

likely in the absence of an injunction, the injunction should be upheld. Without the injunction, 

there will be a complete and total extirpation of the endangered Green River oval pigtoe mussel 

population. R. at 9.   

CONCLUSION 

 

To conclude, New Union Oystercatchers Inc., seeks remedies at law for the following 

claims: 

On Issue One, the trial court erred by granting Greenlawn’s motion for summary judgment 

dismissing NUO’s First Claim for Relief for lack of standing. NUO has standing to bring an action 

again Greenlawn’s riparian use for Greenlawn’s violation of the public trust. Greenlawn has 

withdrawn an unreasonable amount of water from the Bypass Reach during a time of unusually 

high temperatures and low water levels. Greenlawn has not returned a reasonable amount of water 

to the source from it flows, only returning less than 5% of what was diverted for municipal use. 

The water withdrawals have resulted in the destruction of a valuable public use of the water, 

creating a public nuisance after destroying the habitat for oval pigtoe mussels and native oysters, 

diminishing each population, which has resulted in the public’s inability to fish and directly 

impacted commerce by reducing income to oystercatchers.  

 On Issue Two, NUO asks the court to reverse the district court’s dismissal of NUO’s 

Endangered Species Act claims against ACOE because their operation of Howard Runnet Dam 

Works during drought conditions is a discretionary action that requires a § 7 consultation. 
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Discretionary action does not contain specific triggering events that would require the agency to 

act in a specified manner. Therefore, § 7(a)(2) consultation requirements apply to ACOE’s releases 

from the Howard Runnet Dam. Additionally, even if the court does not find ACOE’s control of 

the dam’s water levels to be discretionary action, ACOE’s water agreements negotiations with 

Greenlawn are discretionary actions subject to § 7 consultation requirements because there is 

agency discretion during the water agreement negotiation process.   

On Issue Three, the Court should affirm the District Court’s ruling that Greenlawn’s water 

withdrawals from the drought-reduced flow violate § 9 of the Endangered Species Act. Greenlawn 

violated § 9 of the Endangered Species Act when its water withdrawals harmed the endangered 

oval pigtoe mussel by causing the modification and degradation of the oval pigtoe mussel habitat 

to the point where the species can no longer breed or survive due to the drastic decrease in water 

level, and that harm was proximately caused by Greenlawn’s excessive water withdrawals. 

On Issue Four, the court did not err when it issued an injunction enjoining Greenlawn  

from making water withdrawals that have the effect of reducing downstream flows below the rate 

necessary for mussel survival. The court does not need to balance the equities in cases relating to 

injunctions for Endangered Species Act violations because Congress has spoken directly to the 

purpose of the Act, to protect endangered species at all costs. As such, it is not for the courts to 

weigh the value of a project against the value of saving an endangered species, and the courts 

should not balance the equities in doing so.  

WHEREFORE, NEW UNION OYSTERCATCHERS, INC. RESPECTFULLY 

REQUESTS THIS COURT ISSUE A RULING: 

 

1) Reversing the District Court of New Union’s grant of summary judgment in favor of 

the City of Greenlawn dismissing New Union Oystercatcher’s First Claim of Relief for 

lack of standing; 
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2) Reversing the District Court of New Union’s grant of summary judgment in favor of 

Army Corps of Engineers dismissing New Union Oystercatcher’s First Claim of Relief; 

 

3) Affirming the District Court of New Union’s grant of summary judgment in favor of 

New Union Oystercatcher’s Second Claim for Relief; 

 

4) Continuing to enjoin the City of Greenlawn from making water withdrawals that have 

the effect of reducing downstream flows below the rate necessary for mussel survival.  

 


